
COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE AGENDA 
Tuesday, January 13, 2026, 5:30pm 

Council Chambers 
Municipal Administration Building 

285 Beech Hill Road 
Beech Hill, NS B2G 0B4 

1. Call to Order – Chair, Warden Nicholas MacInnis

2. Approval of Agenda

3. Review of December 9, 2025 Committee of the Whole Minutes

4. Business Arising from the Minutes

5. Delegations

a. Presentation of the Consolidated Financial Statements 2024/2025

6. Continuing Business

a. There is no continuing business

7. New Business

a. Policy Review – Proposed Repeal of the Policy Regarding the Handling of
Tire Fluff

b. Assessment Update

c. Discussion Regarding Cellular Service Meeting

d. Antigonish Affordable Housing Letter Request

e. Discussion Regarding the Municipality’s Dog Control By-law

8. Community Events

This item provides Councillors with an opportunity to briefly bring to the attention of
Council events that are taking place in their communities.

9. Additions to the Agenda

10. In-Camera Items

11. Adjournment

January 13th , 2026 Committee of the Whole Agenda 
Page 1 of 16



COUNCIL PRIORITIES (OCT 2025) 

NOW 

1. TOWN/COUNTY UTILITY

2. 5 YEAR CAPITAL PLAN

3. BOUNDARY REVIEW

4. COMMUNICATIONS STRATEGY

5. HOUSING: HAF Action Plan Review

Next 

• POLICY REVIEW POLICY

• SOURCE WATER

• RECREATION NEEDS ASSESSMENT

• ACTIVE TRANSPORTATION

• LONG TERM SEWER STRATEGY

• MUNICIPAL PLAN: Six MPS Review

ADVOCACY 

• Communication Tower: Installation (BNS)

• Communication Towers: Dead Zones (BNS)

• ATV Corridors: Map (ATV Club)

PARTNERS 

• Housing Needs: Status (AAHS)

• PFN Collaboration: Meeting

• Shelter Providers: Forum

Guiding Principles 

Maximize Community Engagement & Communication 
Ensure Fiscal Responsibility & Sustainability 
Realize Collaboration with Town 

Pursue Partnerships with Local & External Organizations 
Enhance Livable Community Opportunities 
Preserve an Accessible, Inclusive & Safe Place to Live  

Strategic Themes 

RELIABLE UTILITIES - INCLUSIVE COMMUNITY- COLLABORATIVE EFFORTS – STRATEGIC LEADERSHIP 

OPERATIONAL INITIATIVES 

CHIEF ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICER 
1. TOWN/COUNTY UTILITY
2. HOUSING: HAF Action Plan Review
3. Town/County Relations: Meeting

• Bylaw Enforcement Proposal

COMMUNIUTY SUSTAINABILITY 
1. Accessibility Plan
2. Equity/Anti-Racism
3. Net Zero: Building Review

• Climate Resilience Plan (HAF initiative)

• Source Water Planning & Protection: (HAF
initiative)

FINANCE 
1. 5 YEAR CAPITAL PLAN
2. 2024-25 Audit

• Water Rate Study

PUBLIC WORKS 
1. County Water I & I
2. Source Water: (HAF initiative)
3. EPR

• Asset Management: (HAF initiative)

ADMINISTRATION 

1. BOUNDARY REVIEW

2. COMMUNICATION STRATEGY

• POLICY REVIEW POLICY

• Gateway Signage

• Tourism Strategy

COMMUNITY PLANNING 
1. Eastern Antigonish MPS
2. Density Review: (HAF initiative)
3. MUNICIPAL PLAN: Overview

• Subdivision Bylaw: Scope

RECREATION 

1. ACTIVE TRANSPORTATION: On going

2. Sport Hub/Play Finder or Recreation Registration
Software

3. Mini-Pitch Phase II

• RECREATION NEED ASSESSMENT: RFP
Community Use of Schools & Facility Allocation
Policy

CODES:  BOLD CAPITALS = NOW Priorities; CAPITALS = NEXT Priorities; Italics = Advocacy; Regular Title Case = 
Operational Strategies 

January 13th , 2026 Committee of the Whole Agenda 
Page 2 of 16



Committee of the Whole Meeting Minutes 

Tuesday December 9, 2025, 5:30pm 

Council Chambers 

Municipal Administration Building 

285 Beech Hill Road 

Beech Hill, NS B2G 0B4 

Present were: Warden Nicholas MacInnis 

Deputy Warden John Dunbar 

Councillor Mary MacLellan 

Councillor Richelle MacLaughlin 

Councillor Shawn Brophy 

Councillor Wayne Melanson 

Councillor Gary Mattie 

Councillor Harris McNamara 

Regrets: Councillor Adam Baden-Clay 

Councillor Sterling Garvie 

Staff Present: Shirlyn Donovan, CAO 

Allison Duggan, CFO 

Meg MacInnis, Strategic Initiatives Coordinator 

Others Present: Gallery (online and in-person) 

_____________________________________________________________________ 

Call to Order- Warden MacInnis 

Warden MacInnis called the meeting to order at 6:03pm. 

Approval of Agenda 

Warden MacInnis called for approval of the Committee of the Whole meeting agenda.  A 

request was made to add an item regarding a letter of congratulations for the new Chief 

and Council at Paqtnkek.    

Moved and Seconded 

That the agenda be approved as amended. 

Motion Carried 

January 13th , 2026 Committee of the Whole Agenda 
Page 3 of 16



 

December 9, 2025, Committee of the Whole Minutes 2 

Approval of the November 25th, 2025 Committee of the Whole Minutes 

Warden MacInnis called for any errors or omissions in the minutes of November 25th, 

2025.  Hearing none, the minutes were accepted as presented. 

Business Arising from the Minutes 

There was no business arising from the minutes. 

Delegations 

There were no delegations 

Continuing Business 

2025 Boundary Review 

Mrs. Donovan presented staff presentation regarding the boundary review, 

summarizing the process and the next steps.  She noted a change to the proposed 

area of District 4, where the Brierly Brook Road is to be left in District 4 instead of 

moving to District 3.  The presentation included side-by-side comparisons of the 

existing boundaries and the proposed boundaries as previously presented to the 

Committee in November.   

Councillor McNamara expressed a concern with the proposed configuration of District 

9.  He noted that he felt that there should be more electors added to that district, due 

to concerns about the population continuing to drop in that part of the County, to 

offset the growth happening in other districts.  Staff noted that during the public 

consultation process, residents in areas that were proposed to move from District 8 to 

District 9 spoke at meetings and wrote in to express their concerns with the proposed 

change and asking to remain in District 8.   

Deputy Warden Dunbar asked for confirmation whether, with the exception of District 

5, the districts met the +/-10% of the mean number of electors guideline.  Staff 

confirmed that this was the case.  Councillor MacLellan expressed that she felt that 

the size of District 1 could be a challenge.  Councillor Mattie shared that he received 

a lot of additional phone calls and comments from the public regarding the process, 

particularly where the fringe populations grow at a faster pace than the rural areas.  

Looking back, he felt that maybe more than ten districts would work better for the 

community.  Councillor MacLaughlin shared how the process was interesting, and in 

her district the concerns that were raised were with respect to services instead of 

representation.  She suggested that in advance of the next review enumeration 

should be done to capture more accurate elector numbers in the County.   

Councillor MacLellan expressed a concern regarding how the Special District Grants 

are divided, particularly if some districts are larger and include more community 

centres than others.  Mrs. Donovan noted that the Special District Grants policy is 

scheduled for review in early 2027, in advance of the new boundaries coming into 

 
January 13th , 2026 Committee of the Whole Agenda 

Page 4 of 16



 

December 9, 2025, Committee of the Whole Minutes 3 

effect in October 2028.  Deputy Warden Dunbar suggested that an increase in the 

number of councillors may be something that should be considered in the next 

review, to address the concerns with low populations in the east and in District 1. 

Warden MacInnis expressed his thanks to the public that participated in the process.  

He noted that the written submissions were incorporated into the review and were 

important to the process. 

Moved and Seconded 

The Committee recommends that Municipal Council approve the proposed 

changes to the municipal polling districts, as shown on the attached map 

presented November 25, 2025, with the exception of Brierly Brook Road from 

the train tracks to Civic #27 remaining in District #4. 

Motion Carried. 

7 in favour, 1 opposed. 

Policy Review Policy 

Mrs. Donovan noted that this was the second opportunity for the Committee to review 

and consider the policy.  She invited any questions or comments from the Committee.  

Discussion followed regarding the review timelines, and whether policies could be 

reviewed or amended even if they weren’t due for a review, should circumstances 

necessitate.  Staff spoke to the process that staff has already begun to prioritize the 

existing policies for review.    

Moved and Seconded 

The Committee recommends that Municipal Council approves the Policy 

Review Policy as presented. 

Motion Carried. 

Communication Strategy 

Ms. MacInnis noted that the agenda package included several documents related to 

the communication strategy and provided an overview of the purpose of the document 

and the process that was undertaken in its development.  Warden MacInnis expressed 

that he was looking forward to the bi-monthly resident newsletter as a communication 

tool for the community.  Staff was complimented on the work being done to improve 

the use of social media to communicate to the public.  A suggestion was made to 

include information with the tax bills to encourage residents sign up for the newsletter. 

Moved and Seconded 

The Committee recommends that Municipal Council approves the 

Communications Strategy as presented. 

Motion carried. 

Councillor Garvie joined the meeting at the conclusion of this item. 

 
January 13th , 2026 Committee of the Whole Agenda 

Page 5 of 16



 

December 9, 2025, Committee of the Whole Minutes 4 

Housing Accelerator Fund Land Use By-law 

Mrs. Donovan provided a brief background regarding the process that was 

undertaken to review the land use by-laws as part of the Housing Accelerator Fund 

project.  She noted that there would be a recommendation coming from the Planning 

Advisory Committee meeting at Council but spoke to the proposed amendments 

regarding the Local Improvements By-law.  Staff has concerns with the 

recommendations from the consultant regarding the Local Improvements By-law and 

feel that those proposed changes were not reviewed in sufficient detail with the 

Planning Advisory Committee.  Staff will be recommending approval of the proposed 

changes to the Land Use By-law but will be recommending against the proposed 

changes to the Local Improvements By-law when the motion comes forward in the 

Planning Advisory Committee Report.  Discussion followed.   

New Business 

Water Budget  

Mrs. Duggan presented the water budget to the committee for their consideration.  

She noted that the budget and rates are highly regulated by the NSUARB, and 

provided an overview of the revenue collected, the expenditures of the utility, 

depreciation of assets, and debt repayments and any interest charges.  Discussion 

was held regarding specifics in the proposed documents.  Mrs. Duggan noted that 

the debentures attributed to the utility have all been retired.  She also provided the 

committee with the history of the utilities in the County, and how they were 

consolidated into one utility over time. 

Moved and Seconded  

The Committee recommends that Municipal Council approve the Water Budget 

as presented. 

Motion Carried 

Community Events 

• Deputy Warden Dunbar attended the Heatherton Group Home concert, the Nova 

Scotia Power information session regarding upgrades and reliability in 

Heatherton, the Paqtnkek meet and greet with the new Chief and Council, and 

the Santa Tour stop in Heatherton.  He also attended the Pomquet Fire 

Department Christmas Party. 

• Councillor MacLellan attended the Arisaig Santa Tour stop, attended a 

discussion at the library regarding their services and funding. 

• Councillor Mattie attended the Tracadie Fire Department award evening where 

many members of the department and ladies’ auxiliary were recognized.  He also 

attended the meet and greet at Paqtnkek for their new Chief and Council. 

 
January 13th , 2026 Committee of the Whole Agenda 

Page 6 of 16



 

December 9, 2025, Committee of the Whole Minutes 5 

• Councillor McNamara shared there is a Fireman’s Breakfast coming later in 

December.  He provided updates on social events that took place and are 

upcoming at the community centre, including dinners and Santa workshops.  He 

also attended the meet and greet at Paqtnkek. 

• Councillor Melanson shared that the community hosted a senior’s dinner, there 

was a Santa Tour stop in Pomquet, and the fire department hosted a Christmas 

dinner but he could not attend that event due to illness. 

• Councillor Garvie attended the meet and greet for the new Chief and Council at 

Paqtnkek.  He was also involved with the Santa Tour. 

• Councillor MacLaughlin shared Santa Tour was well received in both Lochaber 

and St. Joseph’s, with complementary events taking place at each community 

centre to coincide with the tour.  There is a children’s Christmas Party taking 

place in James River, and Lochaber is hosting their monthly breakfasts starting in 

December.    

• Councillor Brophy attended the meet and greet event at Paqtnkek.   

• Warden MacInnis shared that there was a Christmas Dinner for the St. Andrews 

Volunteer Fire Department, as well a fundraising pub night is being planned in 

the community for Katie MacIntosh.  

Additions to the Agenda 

Congratulatory Letters for Chief and Council at Paqtnkek 

Deputy Water Dunbar spoke to the recent election in Paqtnkek.  Juliana Julian has 

been elected as the first woman to be Chief at Paqtnkek.  Deputy Warden Dunbar 

shared the names of the other members elected to their council as well. 

Moved and Seconded 

The Committee recommends that Municipal Council send congratulatory letters 

to the new Chief and Council at Paqtnkek. 

Motion Carried. 

In-Camera Items 

The in-camera item was moved to the Council agenda. 

 
January 13th , 2026 Committee of the Whole Agenda 

Page 7 of 16



 

December 9, 2025, Committee of the Whole Minutes 6 

Adjournment 

Moved and Seconded  

That Committee of the Whole meeting adjourn at 7:31 pm. 

Motion Carried 

 

 

  

Warden Nicholas MacInnis  Shirlyn Donovan, CAO 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 
January 13th , 2026 Committee of the Whole Agenda 

Page 8 of 16



 

Proposal to Repealed the Tire Fluff Policy  1 
 

STAFF REPORT 

TO: Committee of the Whole 

FROM: Beth Schumacher, Municipal Clerk 

SUBJECT: Proposal to Repealed the Tire Fluff Policy 

DATE: 13/01/2026 

Background 

Passed in 2004, the Tire Fluff Policy provides direction to staff regarding the safe handling 
of tire fluff at the landfill facility.  This policy has been identified by staff as one for 
consideration to be repealed by Council.    

Discussion 

The Tire Fluff Policy summarizes the procedures for staff to follow should there ever be 
a fire involving tire fluff at the landfill.  The structure of this document is more suited to live 
as a standard operating procedure than a policy of Council.  Also, the landfill is now a 
waste transfer station, and all used tires are handled by Divert Nova Scotia through their 
landfill diversion program, no new tire fluff is expected to be received by the facility. 

Alignment with the Strategic Priorities of Council 

The review of municipal policies is identified as a “Next” priority on Council’s Strategic 
Priorities Plan, developed earlier in 2025 and updated in October. 

Recommendation 

Section 48(1) of the Municipal Government Act (MGA) notes that before a policy is 
passed, amended, or repealed the council shall give at least seven days notice to all 
council members.  Therefore, staff is not looking for a motion at this time, but this item of 
business will return at the next committee meeting for consideration. 

 
January 13th , 2026 Committee of the Whole Agenda 

Page 9 of 16



 

 

TOPIC:   Landfill Policy – Tire Fluff 
POLICY NUMBER:     24 
DATE APPROVED:     December 21, 2004 (Min#163) 
DATE REVISED:  

1.0 PURPOSE: 

The purpose of this policy is to establish the guidelines for the proper procedure for 
Landfill employees to follow when handling tire fluff at the Landfill facility.   

2.0 POLICY: 

2.1 Tire fluff must be covered daily.   

a) In the event of a fire at the landfill in the tire fluff, call the Landfill Supervisor 
Immediately. 

b) If the fire is not a big fire, supervise the fire and let the fire burn out. 

c) Call the Fire Department if it is a large fire and let the Fire Department hose 
the fire down.   

d) Keep all machinery out of the way of the fire.  Do not use the equipment 
unless requested to do so by the Fire Department.  Let the Fire Department 
perform their duties. 

3.0 POLICY REVIEW: 

This Policy is to be reviewed as the need arises. 

 
January 13th , 2026 Committee of the Whole Agenda 

Page 10 of 16



Municipal Council Meets with Build Nova Scotia and Local Government Officials 
About Cell Service Concerns 
 
This past Monday, January 5, 2026, Municipal Council kicked off the new year with a meeting alongside 
representatives from Build Nova Scotia (Build NS) and government officials to receive updates and 
discuss residents’ concerns about cellular service across Antigonish County. Frustrations have been 
growing over the lack of, and decline in, cell service as residents wait for reliable coverage that is 
essential for safety, staying connected, and supporting local businesses and economic development. 
 
President and CEO of Build NS, David Benoit, Vice President of Strategic Infrastructure & Development, 
Jonathan Veale, and members of the Build NS team met with MP Jaime Battiste (virtually), The 
Honourable Michelle Thompson and The Honourable Greg Morrow, and members of Municipal Council 
to share updates and next steps for the Cellular for Nova Scotia Program and to hear and respond to 
residents’ concerns. 
 
Build NS is responsible for managing many major infrastructure projects on behalf of the provincial 
government, including connectivity. This work includes two key programs aimed at improving 
service: the Internet for Nova Scotia Initiative and the Cellular for Nova Scotia Program. As part of 
these programs, Build NS oversees project delivery and works with telecommunications 
companies that build and provide services, but does not directly provide or regulate phone or 
internet services as they are federally regulated. 
 
What we heard 
The Cellular for Nova Scotia Program is being delivered in two phases at the same time and has a 
current investment of  $69.2 million in the program. 

• Phase 1: Upgrades to infrastructure at 27 existing tower sites and connection to the Rogers 
5G network. To date, 16 towers have been upgraded. 

• Phase 1A: Construction of 27 new towers by the Department of Emergency Management. 
• Phase 2: Phase 2: Currently in the procurement stage, this phase will focus on expanding 

cellular coverage to areas that are currently unserved by upgrading the 27 new towers 
constructed in Phase 1A with cellular infrastructure as well as expanding cellular coverage 
with new carrier owned towers 

 
What does this mean for Antigonish County? 
In 2022, Build NS completed a Cell Gap Analysis to assess cellular service levels and identify 
service gaps across the province. The study found that in Antigonish County approximately 1,500 
civic addresses lack cellular service, along with about 83 kilometres of unserved primary roads. 
To help address these gaps, Build NS confirmed that three new telecommunications towers are 
planned for Antigonish County, to be in Arisaig, Malignant Cove, and North Lochaber. These towers 
will significantly improve cellular coverage in those areas and surrounding communities, with 
construction anticipated to begin in 2026. 

 
January 13th , 2026 Committee of the Whole Agenda 

Page 11 of 16



 
When asked about declines in cellular service in areas that previously had coverage, Build NS 
noted that this may be partly due to a federal government decision requiring telecommunications 
companies to remove Huawei and ZTE equipment from their networks and replace it with 
alternative equipment, which may not provide the same level of performance. 
 
When asked about roaming, Build NS indicated when someone is outside of their provider’s 
network, their phone may connect to other networks through roaming, depending on their carrier’s 
policies. They recommend contacting their service provider for details on its roaming rules.  
 
Build NS reaffirmed its commitment to addressing cellular service gaps and encouraged residents 
to visit the Build NS website for the most up-to-date information. Residents are also encouraged to 
review the online FAQ section and submit any concerns or questions through the Cell Service 
Feedback Form, where all inquiries receive a response. 
 
Build NS records all feedback to understand the issues Nova Scotians face, strengthening the 
province’s advocacy efforts with telecommunications partners and government regulators. 
 
Visit the Build NS website to learn more and stay up to date on the Cellular for Nova Scotia 
Program: https://internet.buildns.ca/cell/ 
 
 
 
 

 
January 13th , 2026 Committee of the Whole Agenda 

Page 12 of 16

https://internet.buildns.ca/cell/


 
Build Canada Homes – Our investment approach 

The Investment Policy Framework is a new federal approach to housing investment—one 
that is flexible, results-driven, and focused on getting large projects off the ground, scaling 
up supply, and delivering real affordability. 

About the Investment Policy Framework 

The Framework outlines how Build Canada Homes selects, prioritizes, and supports 
affordable housing projects. 

Update 

Register now for Build Canada Homes webinars in January and February to learn about the 
Investment Policy Framework and Portal. Learn more about webinars. 

We prioritize proposals that include the following features: 

Ready to build 

• Construction ready to begin within 12 months 

Affordability 

• Depth and duration of affordability that meets local needs, supports community 
stability and creates capacity in non-profit housing 

Innovation & Speed 

• Modern construction methods like modular and factory-built housing to cut costs 
and speed up delivery 

Strong partnership 

• Collaborative projects that successfully leverage capital and bundle submissions 
for regional impact 

Made in Canada 

• Canadian materials to strengthen supply chains and support local manufacturing 

 
January 13th , 2026 Committee of the Whole Agenda 

Page 13 of 16

https://housing-infrastructure.canada.ca/bch-mc/approach-invest-approche-eng.html#investment-policy-framework
https://housing-infrastructure.canada.ca/bch-mc/approach-invest-approche-eng.html#affordability
https://housing-infrastructure.canada.ca/bch-mc/resources-ressources/webinars-webinaires-eng.html


 

 

Investment Policy Framework 

• Read the Investment Policy Framework (HTML version) 

• Download the Investment Policy Framework (PDF version) (315.38 KB)  

 Partnership details 

Build Canada Homes works as a catalyst—bringing partners together, unlocking public 
land, and tailoring financial tools to make ambitious housing projects viable. Our goal is 

 
January 13th , 2026 Committee of the Whole Agenda 

Page 14 of 16

https://housing-infrastructure.canada.ca/bch-mc/policy-framework-invest-cadre-strategique-eng.html
https://housing-infrastructure.canada.ca/alt-format/pdf/bch-mc/policy-framework-invest-cadre-strategique-en.pdf


 
simple: reduce risk, attract investment, and enable modern building methods so 
communities get the homes they need, faster and more affordably. 

• Who we want to work with? 

• Eligible projects 

• Non-profit and community housing providers 

• Indigenous governments & partners 

• Private Developers (especially in partnership with non-profits) 

• Provincial, territorial and municipal governments 

• Offsite manufacturers 

• Financial institutions and philanthropic funds 

How to submit a proposal 

Step 1. Review the Investment Policy Framework 

• Investment Policy Framework 

• Glossary of Terms 

Step 2. Register for a Build Canada Homes Portal Account 

• Build Canada Homes Portal Guidance 

Step 3. Complete the Required Documentation Checklist 

• Required Documents Checklist 

Step 4. Submit your proposal 

• Proposal Step-By-Step Guide 

Ready to submit your proposal? 

Need help? If you experience issues with the portal or registration, email crmsupport-
soutiengrc@infc.gc.ca. 

How Build Canada Homes defines affordability? 

Housing is affordable when it costs no more than 30% of a household's before-tax income, 
based on the median income in the local area. This approach reflects the realities of 
different communities and household types across Canada. 

 
January 13th , 2026 Committee of the Whole Agenda 

Page 15 of 16

https://housing-infrastructure.canada.ca/bch-mc/approach-invest-approche-eng.html#wb-auto-6
https://housing-infrastructure.canada.ca/bch-mc/approach-invest-approche-eng.html#wb-auto-7
https://housing-infrastructure.canada.ca/bch-mc/policy-framework-invest-cadre-strategique-eng.html
https://housing-infrastructure.canada.ca/bch-mc/resources-ressources/glossary-glossaire-eng.html
https://housing-infrastructure.canada.ca/bch-mc/resources-ressources/portal-guide-portail-eng.html
https://housing-infrastructure.canada.ca/bch-mc/resources-ressources/required-docs-requis-eng.html
https://housing-infrastructure.canada.ca/bch-mc/resources-ressources/step-by-step-guide-etape-eng.html
mailto:crmsupport-soutiengrc@infc.gc.ca
mailto:crmsupport-soutiengrc@infc.gc.ca


 
Date modified: 2025-12-16 

 
January 13th , 2026 Committee of the Whole Agenda 

Page 16 of 16


	CoW260113 Agenda.pdf
	October 2025- Strat. Priorities Chart.pdf
	CoW251209 Minutes.pdf
	2026 - Memo - Rescinding Tire Fluff Policy.pdf
	2026 - Memo - Rescinding Tire Fluff Policy.pdf
	Policy #24 Tire Fluff.pdf

	Jan 2026 - Build NS Meeting.pdf
	Build Canada Homes Program Information.pdf



